Charles Rennie Mackintosh and the Glasgow School of Art: 

The European connection

The Glasgow School of Art was established in 1845 and by the final years of the 19th century it had already proved itself as an innovative and highly respected educational institution. Much of this success was down to the efforts of the School’s director Francis Newbery who was instrumental in encouraging the practical development of industrial arts and crafts alongside the more traditional fine arts. By the 1890s, Newbery had introduced the setting up of specialist decorative arts studios where students (including an increasing number of women) were able to pursue individual classes in wood and metalwork, gesso, ceramics, glass and textiles.

Charles Rennie Mackintosh was a pupil of the School at this time; he was one of the first students to be given the chance to experiment with a variety of media and he is noted today for being an extremely talented architect, interior designer, furniture designer and artist capable of producing both graphic works and fine watercolours.

Throughout the 1890s, Glasgow’s reputation as a centre for ‘new art and design’ continued and in 1895, the School received an invitation to exhibit in Belgium at the Exposition d’Art Applique in Liege. The Glasgow work (including almost certainly one or two pieces by Mackintosh) was well received and Paul Hankar, one of Belgium’s leading architects subsequently wrote that:
“The reign of the sacred renaissance is no longer. This impression emerges with great force from the considerable contribution of the Glasgow School of Art”.

In a letter of thanks to the School, the leading critic Gustave Serrurier Bovy remarked how Belgium’s own art schools were:
“...far from being so advanced as yours [in Glasgow] and what has astonished us in your work is the great liberty left to the pupils to follow their own individuality. Such is so different from the ideas current in our Schools of art, that it is difficult for us to comprehend this freedom although we admire it very much”

What is all the more remarkable in this statement is that Belgium through the works of one of two notable individuals such as Henry van de Velde and Victor Horta were themselves pushing Belgian art, design and architecture to new limits.

In a similar way to the Studio magazine (published in London from 1893), German periodicals such as Dekorative Kunst and Deutsche Kunst und Dekoration instigated a broad and innovative policy that emphasised the need to consider contemporary applied art and design alongside existing fine art forms. The Munich publication Dekorative Kunst first appeared in 1897 and was edited by Hugo Bruckmann.  The November 1898 issue of Bruckmann’s journal featured an extensive article on the work of Mackintosh and his Glasgow colleagues and was to be the first of many subsequent articles and reviews in European journals that paid specific attention to the work of the Glasgow School.
Mackintosh subsequently gained his first European commission from Bruckmann to design furniture for a dining room at his home in Munich. This commission is likely to have been finished by the end of 1898 because by the early months of 1899, these designs had appeared in an article in Dekorative Kunst and also in the French journal, L’Art Decoratif.
Meanwhile in Austria, the Secessionist movement was engaging with artists, designers and architects throughout Europe. In the Secessionist’s own journal, Ver Sacrum (the Sacred Spring) they outlined their intentions for promoting new art for a new century by stating that:
“We, the Secessionists recognise no distinction between ‘high art’ and ‘minor art’, between art of the rich and art of the poor. We want to bring foreign art to Vienna not just for the sake of the artists but to create a great mass of people receptive to art”

During the early years of the Secession, the work of English designers such a Charles Ashbee and William Morris was much better known in Vienna than anyone from Scotland. However, by the end of the 19th century Josef Hoffmann and others within the Secession were keen to invite Scottish artists (and particularly Mackintosh) to future group exhibitions. 

During the summer of 1900, a visit to Glasgow by Fritz Warndorfer (a keen supporter and financier of the Secession) resulted in Mackintosh (and his wife and fellow artist Margaret Macdonald) being invited to Vienna to install a selection of their work at the 8th Secession which opened in November 1900. For the Mackintoshes, the 8th Secessionist exhibition was an overwhelming success and they provided over 30 individual works. The Mackintoshes ‘Scottish Room’ was simply decorated and combined elements from their own Glasgow apartment and other local projects. 
As a method of display, the contrasting of simple room décor against strongly modelled furniture was a departure from most exhibition interiors previously seen in Vienna. The walls and woodwork were all painted white and Mackintosh included a deep picture-rail that was pierced with openings to allow for the installation of small decorative panels. A number of square tapered posts, bedecked with candlesticks divide the wall below the picture rail into vertical sections. Two large gesso panels were positioned above the rail and these were later installed within his commission for the Ingram Street Tea Rooms in Glasgow.
Of the remaining exhibits on display, at least two items were sold; a large Smoker’s cabinet was purchased by a friend of Josef Hoffmann’s, Dr Hugo Henneberg, and one of Mackintosh’s celebrated high-backed chairs was bought by the Secessionist artist and designer Koloman Moser.

Apart from the occasional dissenter, the ‘Scottish Room’ was a critical success and provided Mackintosh with scope to develop professional links and personal friendships. Meanwhile, his method of display had a profound influence upon many of the younger Viennese designers and some of his more geometric designs have been seen as a precursor to the establishment of the later Vienna Werkstatte.

In December 1900, at the same time as the Secession exhibition in Vienna was closing, a German design journal published by Alexander Koch in Darmstadt announced an international competition for the design of a Haus eines Kunstfreudes (A House for an Art Lover). Mackintosh on the strength of his recent showing in Vienna entered a series of designs for the competition.
Unfortunately, Mackintosh’s initial entry was disqualified as he failed to submit the correct number of interior perspectives. These drawings were subsequently submitted and Mackintosh eventually won an honoury prize of DM600; and his designs were later commercially reproduced and widely dispersed as a result. The Haus eines Kunstfreudes competition gave Mackintosh an unparalled freedom to design his own ‘ideal’ house free from the demands and financial constraints otherwise place upon him by clients. It also provided him with the opportunity to fully integrate internal and external features within an overall design.

Externally, Mackintosh’s design received the praise of the influential German writer and critic Hermann Muthesius who, in an introduction to the portfolio of designs remarked that the house:

“...exhibits an absolutely original character unlike anything else known”.

 He then went on to state that in his opinion: 
“English architecture had all but ceased to exist and that a new sense of vibrant creativity was to be found in Scotland”
Internally it was Mackintosh’s use of colour and space which attracted the greatest attention. The elegant Music Room was by far his most successful and original domestic interior; a strangely feminine room, predominately white but interjected with pink, purples and greens. A series of tall windows ran the entire length of wall flanked by pairs of embroidered banners and the use of elongated flower stands and white high backed chairs assisted in emphasising the vertical format of the room.
In general, Mackintosh’s contribution to the Vienna secession was invaluable and continued to benefit long after the show itself closed. He was invited by Fritz Warndorfer to provide designs for a Music Salon at his home in Vienna. The room was panelled to picture-rail height with white boards. Above the rail were a series of large gesso panels, whilst two smaller panels were also set into the piano case which was decorated in high relief. Here Mackintosh was designing the room as a ‘total work of art’.
This success and high profile was to continue only this time in Italy with an opportunity to participate in the Exhibition of Modern Decorative Art which opened under Royal patronage in Turin in 1902. The architect of the exhibition was Raimondo D’Aronco and his designs for the various pavilions reflected a mix of Italian ‘Liberty style, French and Belgian art nouveau and the more angular work of Mackintosh and the Austrian Secessionists.
Over 370 artists from 13 countries took part in the exhibition which explored the relationship between arts, crafts and industry and brought the Italian public face to face with the work of artists such as Mackintosh and Josef Olbrich. Francis Newbery (director of the Glasgow School of Art) was asked by the organising committee to supervise the installation of a Scottish section. Not surprisingly, Newbery’s choice was for Mackintosh (with his growing international reputation) to design the layout and decoration of the three rooms set aside for the Scottish section.

D’Aronco’s lofty barn-like galleries, with large windows almost 3m above floor level and with openings between rooms, were not favoured by Mackintosh. In an effort to reduce the width of each opening, Mackintosh introduced a series of tall linen banners in green, silver and pink. The banners were hung in pairs at the opening of each room and played an important architectural role for they defined the entrance of each department, filled the void created by the high ceiling and harmonised the whole space.

The first of the three Scottish apartments was devoted entirely to the work of the Mackintoshes. Known as the “Rose Boudoir”, the room was painted white, silver and pink and contained a variety of items from furniture and gesso panels, to architectural prints and ceramics. Of the Mackintosh furniture, one of the newest pieces was a dark ebonised writing desk with decorative panels of metal, glass and gesso. This item, together with a number of electric lamps, two of Margaret Macdonald’s smaller gesso panels and a small cabinet were later dispatched to Vienna having been purchase by Fritz Warndorfer,

In the second of the three Scottish apartments, the work of Frances and Herbert McNair was exhibited. The McNairs had transformed their space into a furnished study room with painted walls of white, silver and pink together with an ornate frieze. A selection of dark stained furniture including tables, chairs and a writing desk were featured in their display. Additional items included a clock, decorative metal panels, embroideries, book illustrations and watercolours.

The third and final apartment set aside for Scottish work was also the largest. This housed a wide range of work by staff and students of the Glasgow School of Art alongside one or two other Scottish artists. This room was painted purple and white and featured two square display cabinets designed by Mackintosh for showing the smaller items.

The Scottish work was generally well received and the critic Alfred Melani writing in the Journal of Decorative Art reported that the Mackintoshes were two of the most interesting artists at the Turin exhibition. An extensive range of honours were bestowed upon the Scots. Fra Newbery was awarded Italy’s Cross of a Knight Officer and the Mackintoshes with Diplomas of Honour.

Meanwhile in Russia, the artistic community remained pretty much isolated from the international art scene until the arrival of a new art journal called Mir Iskusstva in 1898.  This journal was critical of the inertia, indifference and ignorance of its artistic leadership and in 1902 its editorial complained of Russia’s inability to match the success of the recent Turin exhibition. 
In response to this criticism an exhibition entitled “Architecture and Artistic Craft of the New Style” was hurriedly put together and opened in Moscow in December in 1902 – its aim to juxtapose the most advanced work from Russia with that currently dominating Western Europe. Amongst the foreign exhibitors to show in Moscow were the Mackintoshes, Josef Olbrich, and the Danish painter-designer Hans Christansen.
The Mackintoshes direct involvement with the exhibition remains uncertain. It may well have been as a follow on from the earlier  Turin exhibition but equally it could have been through the Russian architect Fedor Shektel who was on the organising committee for the Moscow show but had also spent time in Glasgow in 1901 overseeing the construction of a Russian Pavilion at Glasgow’s International exhibition. Whether Shektel knew of Mackintosh or indeed has visited the Glasgow School of Art in person is simply unknown.
The Moscow exhibition proved a turning point for Mackintosh’s credibility in Europe. The exhibition was well attended and although the Russian public were exposed to Mackintosh’s work for the first time, it failed to achieve universal acclaim. The Mackintoshes provided a small display in really just one room with a selection of exhibits, most of which had been seen earlier in both Vienna and Turin.
The Moscow critic Mikaylov reviewed the exhibition provided one of the most scathing attacks remarking that:

“I do not understand for whom the white drawing room by Charles and Margaret Mackintosh was created. It reminds one of an operating theatre in a clinic or a design for a Moscow hairdressers. It was very boring and wearisome; everyone fled from it, from those dreadful straight lines, from the lifelessness”

Not surprisingly perhaps, no long term friendships or commissions were forthcoming from Moscow. 

By 1903 many continental designers had begun to search for new ideas and new motifs and even a new philosophy in their work. Mackintosh’s designs were no longer quite so innovative. His final invitation from Europe was for the delivery of a small bedroom suite exhibited at the Dresden Werkstatten fur Handwerkunst in 1903 but it generated little if any attention
Although Mackintosh continued to work as a successful designer and architect in Glasgow for a further decade the European connection was no more. Aside from a small commission to design a drawing room for previously unknown client in Berlin, A S Ball, his time in Europe had been and gone.

Although Mackintosh spent the final few years of his life in the South of France during the mid 1920s, he had given up all hope of continuing as a design/architect and the only legacy of this period is a series of watercolour paintings; a slightly incongruous end to a European career that promised so much but never quite delivered.
